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 July 1, 2014 
 
Docket No. 030-37598                                                             License No. 24-31101-02 (expired) 
EA-13-240 
 
Robert Coleman 
Managing Member 
Wittnauer Worldwide, LP  
c/o Composite Holdings, LLC. 
12033 Avery Lane 
Bridgeton, MO  63044 
 
SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 03037598/2013001, WITTNAUER 

WORLDWIDE, LP, C/O COMPOSITE HOLDINGS, LLC., SAN JUAN, PUERTO 
RICO SITE 

 
Dear Mr. Coleman: 
 
This letter refers to the inspection conducted on October 1, 2013, at the Wittnauer Worldwide, LP 
(Wittnauer) facility at 10 Calle Gertrudis, San Juan, Puerto Rico and a subsequent telephone 
conversation between you, Kelvin Massey and John Miller of this office on November 12, 2013. 
This inspection examined activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety 
and to compliance with the Commission's regulations and the license conditions.  The inspection 
consisted of observations by the inspector and interviews with personnel.  The enclosed report 
presents the results of this inspection.  A telephonic exit meeting to discuss the results of the 
inspection was conducted with you and Kelvin Massey on June 23, 2014. 
    
Based on the results of this inspection, one apparent violation was identified and is being 
considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.  
The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC’s Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/about-
nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html.  
 
The apparent violation being considered for escalated enforcement action involves Wittnauer’s 
failure to complete decommissioning of their authorized radioactive material storage location.  
Specifically, Wittnauer’s NRC license expired on February 28, 2010, and the licensee was 
required to initiate decommissioning within 60 days (i.e., by April 30, 2010), in accordance with 10 
CFR 30.36(d), and to subsequently complete decommissioning within 24 months (i.e., by April 30, 
2012), in accordance with 10 CFR 30.36(h).  However, as of the date of this letter, Wittnauer has 
not completed decommissioning the site.   
 
The circumstances surrounding this apparent violation, the significance of the issue, and the need 
for lasting and effective corrective action were discussed with you at the inspection exit meeting 
on June 23, 2014.  As a result, it is not necessary to conduct a pre-decisional enforcement 
conference (PEC) in order to enable the NRC to make an enforcement decision.  
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Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are providing you an opportunity to:  
(1) request a PEC, (2) respond to the apparent violation in writing, or (3) accept the violation as 
characterized in this letter and its enclosure (in which case the NRC will proceed with its 
enforcement decision).  Please contact Mr. Blake Welling, Chief, Commercial, Industrial, R&D, 
and Academic Branch, at 610-337-5205 within 10 days of the date of this letter to notify the NRC 
whether you are interested in attending a PEC, providing a written response, or accepting the 
violation. 
 
If you choose to request a PEC, the meeting should be held in our office in King of Prussia, PA, 
within 30 days of the date of this letter.  The PEC will afford you the opportunity to provide your 
perspective on the apparent violation and any other information that you believe the NRC should 
take into consideration before making an enforcement decision.  The topics discussed during  
the conference may include the following:  information to determine whether a violation occurred, 
information to determine the significance of a violation, information related to the identification of  
a violation, and information related to any corrective actions taken or planned to be taken.  If a 
PEC is held, it will be open for public observation and the NRC will issue a press release to 
announce the conference time and date.  
 
If you choose to provide a written response, it should be sent to the NRC within 30 days of the 
date of this letter.  Your response may reference or include previously docketed  
correspondence.  It should be clearly marked as a “Response to Apparent Violation in Inspection 
Report No. 03037598/2013001; EA-13-240,” and sent to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, ATTN:  Document Control Desk, Washington, DC  20555-0001 with a copy to the 
Regional Administrator, Region I, 2100 Renaissance Boulevard, King of Prussia, PA  19406.   
 
Please note that the promptness and comprehensiveness of your corrective action will be an 
important factor in deciding any enforcement sanction.  You should be aware that the severity 
level of a violation may be increased if a licensee has notice of a violation but is unwilling to 
achieve compliance.  In such cases, daily civil penalties may be assessed until the violation is 
corrected.  In addition, please be advised that the number and characterization of apparent 
violations described above may change as a result of further NRC review.   
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its 
enclosure, and your response, if you choose to provide one, will be made available electronically 
for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC’s Agencywide 
Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web site at 
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  To the extent possible, your response should not 
include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made 
available to the public without redaction. 
 
Current NRC regulations and guidance are included on the NRC’s website at www.nrc.gov;  
select Nuclear Materials; Ind, & Academic Uses; then Regulations, Guidance and 
Communications.  The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC’s website at 
www.nrc.gov; select About NRC, Organizations & Functions; Office of Enforcement; 
Enforcement documents; then Enforcement Policy (Under ‘Related Information’).  You   
may also obtain these documents by contacting the Government Printing Office (GPO) toll-free  
at 1-866-512-1800.  The GPO is open from 8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. EST, Monday through Friday 
(except Federal holidays).   
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The NRC’s Safety Culture Policy Statement became effective in June 2011.  While a policy 
statement and not a regulation, it sets forth the agency’s expectations for individuals and 
organizations to establish and maintain a positive safety culture.  You can access the policy 
statement and supporting material that may benefit your organization on NRC’s safety culture 
Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/safety-culture.html.  We strongly encourage you to 
review this material and adapt it to your particular needs in order to develop and maintain a 
positive safety culture as you engage in NRC-regulated activities. 
 
If you have any questions related to this matter, please contact Mr. Welling of my staff at 
610-337-5205.   
 

Sincerely, 
 
/RA/ 
 
 
James W. Clifford, Director 
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 

 
Enclosure:  Inspection Report No. 03037598/2013001 
 
cc w/enclosure: 
Kelvin Massey, Radiation Safety Officer 
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U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
REGION I 

 
INSPECTION REPORT 

 
 
Inspection No. 03037598/2013001 
 
Docket No. 030-37598 
 
License No. 24-31101-02 (expired) 
 
Licensee: Wittnauer Worldwide, LP, c/o Composite Holdings, LLC. 
 
Address: 12033 Avery Lane, Bridgeton, MO  63044 
 
Location Inspected: 10 Calle Gertrudis, San Juan, Puerto Rico  00911 
 
Inspection Dates: October 1, 2013, November 12, 2013, and June 23, 2014 
 
 
 /RA/    06/24/14 
Inspector: ____________________________            __________ 
 John J. Miller       date 
 Health Physicist 
 Commercial, Industrial, R&D, and Academic Branch 
 Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 
 
  
 /RA/    06/24/14 
Approved By: _____________________________  ___________ 
 Blake D. Welling, Chief      date 
 Commercial, Industrial, R&D, and Academic Branch 
 Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Wittnauer Worldwide, LP, c/o Composite Holdings, LLC. 
NRC Inspection Report No. 03037598/2013001 

 
Wittnauer Worldwide, LP is a former watch manufacturing company whose assets were  
acquired by Composite Holdings, LLC.  The licensee does not operate an active business 
requiring an NRC license and the sole activity related to Wittnauer Worldwide, LP is the 
possession of a single drum of radioactive waste (watch parts contaminated with less than 
100 millicuries of hydrogen-3).  Wittnauer Worldwide, LP has an NRC license that expired on 
February 28, 2010.  The license authorizes the possession and storage of waste pursuant to 
disposal. 
 
The NRC conducted an announced inspection of the licensee’s facility at 10 Calle Gertrudis,  
San Juan, Puerto Rico on October 1, 2013.  The inspector noted that the drum was securely 
stored at the authorized location.  The inspector also determined that the licensee had not made 
arrangements for the disposal of the drum. 
 
Based on the results of the inspection, an apparent violation was identified relative to the 
licensee’s failure to complete decommissioning of the authorized radioactive material storage 
location.  The Wittnauer Worldwide, LP license expired on February 28, 2010, and the licensee 
was required to initiate decommissioning on April 30, 2010, in accordance with 10 CFR 30.36(d), 
and complete decommissioning by April 30, 2012, in accordance with 10 CFR 30.36(h).   As of 
the date of this report, the licensee has not completed decommissioning the site in accordance 
with 10 CFR 30.36(h). 
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REPORT DETAILS 
 

I. Inspection Summary 
 

a. Inspection Scope 
 

This was an announced inspection focused on the storage and security of a single drum 
containing radioactive material designated as waste by the licensee (watch parts and  
dials contaminated with less than 100 millicuries of hydrogen-3).  The inspection also 
included an assessment of the licensee’s progress for disposing of the waste drum and 
decommissioning the  authorized storage location.  The inspection included direct 
observation of the conditions at the authorized location of storage and interviews with 
licensee personnel. 
 
The storage site inspection was performed on October 1, 2013, at 10 Calle Gertrudis,  
San Juan, Puerto Rico and licensee management was interviewed on  
November 12, 2013, via telephone.  The inspection was focused on compliance with the 
relevant license conditions and regulatory requirements.   
 

b. Observations and Findings 
 

A drum containing the watch parts contaminated with hydrogen-3 was secured in 
accordance with 10 CFR 20.1801 at the location authorized on the license. The drum  
was stored at a private residence and was controlled by a landlord who serves as the 
caretaker.  The drum was labeled and was sitting atop two cinder blocks.  The storage 
location was under a substantial overhang that prevents the drum from being exposed to 
the rain and the drum was wrapped in plastic sheeting.  
  
The inspector interviewed the licensee about the progress they had made in making 
arrangements for disposal of the drum.  Based on the results of the interview, the  
inspector determined that the licensee had not made arrangements for disposal.   
 
The inspector noted that NRC staff had provided the licensee with contact information to 
facilitate with the disposal process.  In an e-mail dated September 11, 2013, the  
inspector provided Robert Coleman, Managing Member, and Kelvin Massey, Radiation 
Safety Officer (RSO) with contact information for individuals that may be able to assist in 
the packaging, transport, and disposal of the waste drum of hydrogen-3.  This same 
information had previously been provided to the licensee by NRC staff on October 20, 
2011.  The information included a contact, Charles (Russ) Meyer, representing the 
Conference of Radiation Control Program Directors (CRCPD) Offsite Source Recovery 
Project.  Mr. Meyer was identified as the Technical Assistant to support individuals who 
had orphan sources or radioactive waste that is difficult to dispose.  The CRCPD also 
maintains a list of commercial waste brokers/disposal facilities and this information was 
communicated to the licensee on October 20, 2011, and again on September 11, 2013.   
In the September 11, 2013, e-mail, the inspector also communicated that if the licensee 
was having difficulty making progress finalizing disposal plans using the contacts that  
were provided, the licensee should contact the inspector or the Region immediately.  The 
e-mail emphasized that Mr. Coleman and Mr. Massey are the licensee of record and are  
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responsible for disposing of this radioactive waste and complying with all applicable 
regulatory requirements including decommissioning the site in accordance with 10 CFR 
30.36. 
 
The inspector discussed the initial results of the onsite portion of the inspection on 
November 12, 2013, during a telephone call with Robert Coleman and Kelvin Massey.  
An additional discussion was held by phone on December 19, 2013.   
 

c. Conclusions 
 

Based on the results of the inspection, the inspector identified an apparent violation of 
decommissioning requirements as described below.   
 
10 CFR 30.36(d)(1) requires that, within 60 days of a license expiring, the licensee must 
begin decommissioning its site, or any separate building or outdoor area that contains 
residual radioactivity so that the building or outdoor area is suitable for release in 
accordance with NRC requirements. 
 
10 CFR 30.36(h) requires that unless the Commission approves an alternate schedule  
for decommissioning of the site, the licensee must complete decommissioning of the site 
or separate building, or outdoor area as soon as practicable, but no later than 24 months 
following the initiation of decommissioning. 
 
Contrary to the above, as of June 23, 2014, Wittnauer Worldwide LP has not completed 
decommissioning of its site, so that it is suitable for release in accordance with NRC 
requirements, within 24 months following the initiation of decommissioning, and the 
Commission has not approved an alternate schedule.  Specifically, Wittnauer’s license, 
which authorized possession only of waste material at a storage location, expired on 
February 28, 2010, but Wittnauer has not, to date, disposed of the waste material or 
otherwise completed decommissioning of the site. 
 

II.    Exit Meeting  
 
On June 23, 2014, the inspector conducted a telephone exit meeting with Robert 
Coleman and Kelvin Massey.  The inspector discussed the findings of the inspection, 
including the apparent violation of decommissioning requirements.  



 

  Attachment 

ATTACHMENT 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED 
 

Licensee 
 
Kelvin Massey, Radiation Safety Officer  
Robert Coleman, Managing Member -  Wittnauer Worldwide, LP, c/o Composite Holdings, LLC. 
 
Non-Licensee 
 
Balthaszar Vasquez – Property Owner/Landlord 
 

INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED 
 

Inspection Guidance Used: IMC 2800, “Materials Inspection Program” 
 
 


